
- 1 - 

9000 W. Airport Drive #204 • Spokane, WA 99224 • (509) 455-6455 

NOTICE OF AIRPORT BOARD MEETING 

In accordance with Ch. 42.30 RCW, the Spokane Airport Board announces its intent to hold a 
Board meeting on Thursday, August 21, 2025 at 9:00 a.m. 

AGENDA 

A. Call to Order

B. Roll Call of the Airport Board

C. Public Comment

D. Approval of Minutes (07.17.25 Meeting)

E. Approval of Minutes (07.24.25 Meeting)

F. Financial Report

SPOKANE AIRPORT BOARD 

Chair: 
Vice Chair: 
Secretary: 

Ezra Eckhardt  
Al French 
Brooke Baker Spink 

Board Members: Andy Billig, Max Kuney, 
Nancy Vorhees, Betsy Wilkerson 

Airport Interim CEO:    Frank Miller 

Public attendance at the meeting is available in-person at the Airport Event Center, 9211 W. 
McFarlane Road, Spokane, WA 99224, or remotely by calling 1 253 205 0468 and entering 
Meeting ID 879 6668 7630 and Passcode 368964 or by using the following link: 
https://spokaneairports-net.zoom.us/j/87966687630?pwd=iez0e4MiOynVxO8cHa3Ikbhb0kZ4kZ.1  

https://spokaneairports-net.zoom.us/j/87966687630?pwd=iez0e4MiOynVxO8cHa3Ikbhb0kZ4kZ.1


- 2 - 

G. Consent Agenda (Items 1-7) (All items relate to Spokane International Airport [SIA] unless
otherwise noted.)

1. Summary of Payments

2. Approve Professional Services Agreement with Colormatics, LLC

3. Vacate Avigation Easement – Parcel Nos. 45102.9144 & 45105.9110 – Felts Field

4. Award Construction Contract for Air Cargo Facility Stair Replacement

5. Approve Procurement of Parking Access Equipment

6. Authorize Construction Change Order No. 1 for Craig Road Sewer Sanitary Project

7. Award Construction Contract for Felts Field Terminal Remodel – Café Demolition (Felts
Field)

H. Regular Agenda (Items 8-10)

8. Adopt Resolution No. 07-25 to implement the 2025 Affirmative Action Plans

9. Approve the 2025-2026 Employee Benefits for Spokane Airport Employees

10. Adopt Resolution No. 08-25 Accepting State of Washington Department of Commerce Grants
for Transload Area Sewer Project

I. CEO Report

The Airport Board may take action on other routine business issues as they may arise
while the Board meeting is in session.

J. Executive Session

K. Adjourn 

The Spokane Airport Board is committed to providing reasonable accommodations to individuals 
with disabilities. Individuals requiring reasonable accommodations to attend this meeting should 
call the Airport Administrative Office at (509) 455-6434 or email reception@spokaneairports.net at 
least 48 hours in advance of the meeting to arrange for accommodations. 

mailto:reception@spokaneairports.net


b e f o r e  t h e  .  .  .

 SPOKANE AIRPORT BOARD 
Item 

Number
D 

Posted to the . . . agenda of August 21, 2025 
Airport Board Meeting Minutes 

July 17, 2025 

Board Present:     Chair Eckhardt, Vice Chair French, Secretary Baker Spink, Member Kuney, Member 
  Billig, Member Wilkerson 

Absent:         Member Vorhees 
Counsel:            Werst 
Staff:             Abbey, Anderson, Corcoran, Garrison, Heimbach, Hoeing, Miller, Mitchell, Nevill, 

  Plieger, Raska, Schultz, Sheehan, St. Martin, Toft, Woodard 
Clerk:        Carlson 

Item A: Call to Order 

The meeting was called to order at 9:00 a.m. 

Item B: Roll Call of the Airport Board 

Rollcall was taken and a quorum confirmed. 

Item C: Public Comment 

There was no public comment. 

Item D:       Approval of Minutes (06.12.25 Regular Board Meeting) 

A motion to approve the minutes was made by Vice Chair French and seconded by 
Member Wilkerson. The motion carried unanimously. 

Item E:       Financial Report 

CFO Schultz reviewed the dashboard and key performance indicators including passenger 
enplanements, landed weights and operating income for Spokane International Airport. 

Item F: Consent Agenda (Items 1-3) (All items relate to Spokane International Airport unless     
otherwise noted.) 

1. Summary of Payments

2. Award Unit-Price Public Works Construction Contract for Roof Repairs
(SIA, Business Park, Felts Field)



3. Approve Amendment No. 6 to the Landside Snow Removal Contract

A motion to approve the Consent Agenda was made by Vice Chair French and was
seconded by Secretary Baker Spink. The motion carried unanimously.

Item G: Regular Agenda (Items 4-5) 

4. Adopt Resolution Accepting FAA Grant Offer for Northeast Taxiway ‘F’ Development
Project (Felts Field)

A motion to approve Item 4 was made by Member Wilkerson and was seconded by Vice 
Chair French. The motion carried unanimously. 

5. Approve Amendment No. 1 to Professional Services Agreement for Northeast Taxiway
‘F’ Development Project (Felts Field)

A motion to approve Item 5 was made by Vice Chair French and was seconded by 
Secretary Baker Spink. The motion carried unanimously. 

Item H: CEO Report 

Interim CEO Miller reported on the following: Transload and Track agreements, a Skyway 
Café fire update, the intention to schedule a Board workshop regarding the Central Hall 
TREX project for the week of August 18th or week of August 25th and an update on the 
Runway Intersection Pavement Project. Alannah Toft was awarded the Airport’s 
Outstanding Service Award for her work on the unveiling of the Airport’s new logo and 
brand identity, her instrumental participation in the launch of new direct flights, helping to 
organize participants for the Triennial exercise and her role as chairperson for the ARC 
Terminus event and coinciding annual Neighbor Day event at Felts Field. Alannah was also 
recognized for her graduation from Leadership Spokane and efforts to raise over $100,000 
for Spokane’s Ronald McDonald House Charities. 

Item I:  Executive Session 

At the direction of Chair Eckhardt, Brian Werst stated that the Airport Board would convene 
to Executive Session pursuant to RCW 42.30.110 subsection 1(g) and (i) for 30 minutes 
upon commencement of the Executive Session unless otherwise extended by further 
announcement to consider the selection of a site for acquisition for real estate by lease or 
purchase, to evaluate the qualifications of an applicant for public employment and to 
discuss with legal counsel litigation, pending litigation or legal risk for proposed action of 
the agency that may have legal or financial consequences. The Airport Board may be asked 
to take action upon conclusion of the executive session. 



The Board recessed to Executive Session at 9:29 a.m. The Executive Session was extended 
at the request of the Board and publicly announced. The Board reconvened to public 
session at 10:29 a.m.  

No further action was taken by the Board following the conclusion of Executive Session. 

Item J: There being no further business before the Board, the meeting was adjourned at 
10:30 a.m. 



b e f o r e  t h e  .  .  .

 SPOKANE AIRPORT BOARD 
Item 

Number
E 

Posted to the . . . agenda of August 21, 2025 
Airport Special Board Meeting Minutes 

July 24, 2025 

Board Present:    Chair Eckhardt, Vice Chair French, Secretary Baker Spink, Member Kuney, Member 
  Billig, Member Vorhees, Member Wilkerson 

Counsel:            Werst 
Staff:             Miller 
Clerk:        Carlson 

Item A: Call to Order 

The meeting was called to order at 8:01 a.m. 

Item B: Roll Call of the Airport Board 

Rollcall was taken and a quorum confirmed. 

Item C: Executive Session 

At the direction of Chair Eckhardt, Brian Werst stated that the Airport Board would convene 
to Executive Session pursuant to RCW 42.30.110 subsection 1(g) and (i) until 3:00 p.m. 
unless otherwise extended by further announcement to consider the selection of a site for 
acquisition for real estate by lease or purchase, to evaluate the qualifications of an 
applicant for public employment. The Airport Board will not be asked to take action upon 
conclusion of the executive session. 

The Board recessed to Executive Session at 8:01 a.m. The Executive Session was extended 
twice at the request of the Board and publicly announced. The Board reconvened to public 
session at 3:50 p.m.  

No further action was taken by the Board following the conclusion of Executive Session. 

Item D: There being no further business before the Board, the meeting was adjourned at 
3:50 p.m. 



2025 OPERATING REVENUE  & EXPENSES

Jun-25 Jun-24 YoY Variance 2025 Budget Budget Variance

4,416,759$      3,995,019$    10.6% 4,456,694$   -0.9%

2,404,332 2,322,052 3.5% 2,361,672 1.8%

10,070,842 7,345,219 37.1% 8,151,604 23.5%

12,671,010 11,572,667 9.5% 13,393,411 -5.4%

3,189,287 3,113,344 2.4% 3,329,812 -4.2%

32,752,230$    28,348,301$   15.5% 31,693,193$   3.3%

3,994,054 3,547,145 12.6% 4,289,318 -6.9%

122,684 156,228 -21.5% 522,842 -76.5%

3,654,067 4,159,487 -12.2% 4,531,615 -19.4%

2,595,985 2,281,552 13.8% 3,731,296 -30.4%

240,239 247,506 -2.9% 257,606 -6.7%

8,408,811 6,930,801 21.3% 10,307,214 -18.4%

Total SIA Expenses 19,015,840$    17,322,718$    9.8% 23,639,891$    -19.6%

SIA Operating Income 13,736,390$    11,025,583$    24.6% 8,053,302$   70.6%

Airport Business Park

851,320 790,291 7.7% 876,979 -2.9%

209,209 239,237 -12.6% 246,650 -15.2%

Business Park Operating Income 642,111$    551,055$   16.5% 630,329$    1.9%

Felts Field

454,868 442,046 2.9% 462,135 -1.6%

348,660 284,683 22.5% 344,150 1.3%
Felts Field Operating Income 106,208$    157,363$   -32.5% 117,985$    -10.0%

FINANCIAL DASHBOARD
June 2025

Operating Revenue

General & Admin

SIA Revenue

Parking / Ground Transport

Airfield (Incl. Fuel)

Other Bldgs & Grounds

Terminal

Car Rental

Operating Revenue

Total SIA Revenue

SIA Expenses

Airfield / Ops / Fuel

Note:  Figures are based on information available as of 8/2/2025.  Some totals and percentages may not add exactly due to rounding

Operating Expenses

Other Bldgs & Grounds

Terminal

Parking / Ground Transport

Car Rental

Spokane International Airport

Operating Expenses

$0.6

$0.7

$0.8

$0.9

$1.0

$1.1

$1.2

$1.3

$1.4

$1.5

$1.6

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

M
ill

io
n

s

RAC/CFC Revenue

2023 2024 2025

125,000

150,000

175,000

200,000

225,000

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Enplaned Passengers

2023 2024 2025

2023 Epax:     967,606

2024 Epax:  1,002,317

2025 Epax:  1,019,038

180,000

200,000

220,000

240,000

260,000

280,000

300,000

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

(i
n

 0
0

0
's

 o
f 

p
o

u
n

d
s)

Landed Weights

2023 2024 2025

2023 Weights:  1,386,514 

2024 Weights:  1,363,240

2025 Weights:  1,404,830

32,000

34,000

36,000

38,000

40,000

42,000

44,000

46,000

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Revenue Transactions - Parking

2023 2024 2025

$13.91 $14.24
$15.72

$17.82

$0.00

$2.00
$4.00

$6.00

$8.00
$10.00

$12.00

$14.00
$16.00

$18.00

$20.00
$22.00

2022 2023 2024 2025

Revenue per Enplanement

Parking Ground Trans PFC Food & Bev Retail

1.0

1.5

2.0

2.5

3.0

3.5

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

M
ill

io
n

s

Fuel Volume Issued (in gallons)

2023 2024 2025

4,000

4,500

5,000

5,500

6,000

6,500

7,000

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

GEG Operations

2023 2024 2025

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

7,000

8,000

9,000

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Felts Operations

2023 2024 2025



AUGUST 21, 2025 SPOKANE AIRPORT BOARD

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

1) PASSENGER TRAFFIC:

June 2025 enplanements: Year to date enplanements:

Month Enplanements Variance Month Enplanements Variance

Jun-25 199,222 n/a Jun-25 1,019,038 n/a

Budget 194,785 2.3% Budget 1,024,784 -0.6%

Jun-24 190,515 4.6% Jun-24 1,002,317 1.7%

Jun-23 186,343 6.9% Jun-23 967,606 5.3%

June 2025 total passengers: Year to date total passengers:

Month Passengers Variance Month Passengers Variance

Jun-25 404,076 n/a Jun-25 2,056,669 n/a

Budget 389,571 3.7% Budget 2,049,568 0.3%

Jun-24 387,892 4.2% Jun-24 2,019,083 1.9%

Jun-23 378,760 6.7% Jun-23 1,948,108 5.6%

2) LANDED WEIGHT ACTIVITY:

June 2025 landed weights are (per 1000 lbs): Year to date landed weights are (per 1000 lbs):

Month Landed Weight Variance Month Landed Weight Variance

Jun-25 279,254 n/a Jun-25 1,404,830 n/a

Budget 256,736 8.8% Budget 1,382,297 1.6%

Jun-24 253,196 10.3% Jun-24 1,363,240 3.1%

Jun-23 256,550 8.8% Jun-23 1,386,514 1.3%

3) GEG OPERATIONS:

June 2025 operations at GEG: Year to date opertions at GEG:

Month No. of Operations Variance Month No. of Operations Variance

Jun-25 6,476 n/a Jun-25 32,936 n/a

Jun-24 6,398 1.2% Jun-24 33,115 -0.5%

Jun-23 6,209 4.3% Jun-23 32,599 1.0%

Jun-22 5,923 9.3% Jun-22 32,038 2.8%

4) CARGO HANDLED AT GEG:

June 2025 cargo tonnage: Year to date cargo tonnage at GEG:

Month Volume (US Tons) Variance Month Volume (US Tons) Variance

Jun-25 4,991 n/a Jun-25 28,134 n/a

Jun-24 5,584 -10.6% Jun-24 33,117 -15.0%

Jun-23 6,767 -26.2% Jun-23 38,204 -26.4%

Jun-22 6,651 -25.0% Jun-22 37,924 -25.8%

Spokane International Airport
B U S I N E S S   P A R K  A N D   F E L T S  F I E L D

9000 W. AIRPORT DR., SUITE 204

SPOKANE, WA 99224

(509) 455-6455FAX (509) 624-6493

www.spokaneairports.net



AUGUST 21, 2025 SPOKANE AIRPORT BOARD

Spokane International Airport
B U S I N E S S   P A R K  A N D   F E L T S  F I E L D

9000 W. AIRPORT DR., SUITE 204

SPOKANE, WA 99224

(509) 455-6455FAX (509) 624-6493

www.spokaneairports.net

5) AIRLINE LOAD FACTOR:

83.2%
85.7%

87.6% 86.6%

80.6%
83.9% 83.9%

79.4%

89.9% 91.0%

81.9%

71.7%

82.7%
79.8%

60%

65%

70%

75%

80%

85%

90%

95%

Alaska Allegiant American Delta Southwest United TOTAL

June's Load Factor

2024 2025 2025 Monthly Average at GEG

82.7%
84.7%

87.4%

84.3%
81.4%

87.3%

83.6%82.9%

79.6%

86.8%

83.5%

76.1%

86.0%

81.8%

60%

65%

70%

75%

80%

85%

90%

Alaska Allegiant American Delta Southwest United TOTAL

YTD Load Factor

YTD 2024 YTD 2025 YTD Average at GEG



AUGUST 21, 2025 SPOKANE AIRPORT BOARD

Spokane International Airport
B U S I N E S S   P A R K  A N D   F E L T S  F I E L D

9000 W. AIRPORT DR., SUITE 204

SPOKANE, WA 99224

(509) 455-6455FAX (509) 624-6493

www.spokaneairports.net

6) PARKING:

4.5

7.0

4.1
4.7

4.42

6.87

4.01

4.824.58

6.90

4.12

5.05

0.0

1.0

2.0

3.0

4.0

5.0

6.0

7.0

8.0

C-Concourse Economy Lots Garage Outside

N
o

. o
f 

D
ay

s

Parking Length of Stay

2023 2024 2025

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Parking Occupancy % by Day of the Week (June 2025)

GARAGES OUTSIDE & C-CONCOURSE ECONOMY 1 ECONOMY 2 - OVERFLOW



b e f o r e  t h e  .  .  .  

 SPOKANE AIRPORT BOARD        
 

Item 
 
Number 1 

 
 Posted to the . . .               agenda of August 21, 2025 

 
 

Payments Summary Recap for July 2025 
 
 

WARRANTS FUND FUND DESCRIPTION AMOUNTS PAID 
    

166722 - 1667055 
 
 

900018 - 900023 
 
 

General 
Fund 

 
Construction 

Fund 

Warrants Issued 
 
 

Warrants Issued 

   $9,790,624.96 
 
 

      $5,880,354.49 

015844 - 015865 
E000008 

Trust & EFT Warrants Issued & EFT  $131,509.63 

 
 

TOTAL PAYMENTS    $15,802,489.08 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



b e f o r e  t h e  .  .  .

 SPOKANE AIRPORT BOARD
Item 

Number
2 

Posted to the . . . agenda of August 21, 2025 

ACTION REQUESTED: Approve Professional Services Agreement between Spokane Airports and 
Colormatics, LLC  

BACKGROUND: In April 2024, the Airport issued a Request for Qualifications (RFQ) for photo and video 
production services, with the goal of creating a roster of qualified firms who would provide high-quality 
photo and video products on a rotational or on-call basis. Specifically, the RFQ called on firms specializing 
in any one or more of the following categories to submit proposals: aerial photography, architectural 
photography, business development photography, corporate portraits, event photography and/or video 
production. Three firms responded to the Airport’s RFQ, including full-service production agency 
Colormatics, LLC. 

Colormatics was initially engaged to provide event and architectural photography related to the opening 
of the Airport’s Concourse C West Terminal Expansion in May 2024, and to provide services related to the 
Airport’s end-of-year recap in December 2024. In January 2025, recognizing Colormatics as the most 
qualified vendor, the Airport approved a six-month Master Services Agreement not to exceed $47,000.00 
with the firm to key document Airport initiatives throughout the first half of 2025.  

FUNDING SOURCE: Airport General Funds 

ANALYSIS: The Airport forecasts a growing need for photo and video production services over the next 
several years, particularly in regard to the Airport’s rebranding, website redesign and ongoing capital 
improvement program. Colormatics is well-suited to render these services. Under the proposed 
Professional Services Agreement, the firm will provide a range of photo and video production services over 
a three-year term not to exceed $350,000.00, beginning September 1, 2025.  

RECOMMENDATION: Approve Professional Services Agreement between Spokane Airports and 
Colormatics, LLC for photography and video services not to exceed $350,000.00 over a three-year term, 
beginning September 1, 2025. 



b e f o r e  t h e  .  .  .

 SPOKANE AIRPORT BOARD
Item 

Number
3 

Posted to the . . . agenda of August 21, 2025 

ACTION REQUESTED: Vacate Avigation Easement – Parcel Nos. 45102.9144 & 45105.9110 – Felts Field 

BACKGROUND: In August 2001 an Avigation Easement was granted to the Spokane Airport Board for 
Parcel No. 45105.9095 located approximately four miles due west of Felts Field. The easement was 
granted under the Spokane County Airport Overlay Zoning requirements that were in place at that time.  

When the City of Spokane Valley was incorporated in 2003 the parcel in question was included in the 
boundaries of the new municipality. Sometime later the City of Spokane Valley adopted an Airport Hazard 
Overlay Zone in its Zoning Code which changed the areas in which Avigation Easements would be required. 
Then, in 2004, Parcel No. 45105.9095 was divided into several smaller parcels – including the two parcels 
under consideration here – under a Binding Site Plat. This resulted in the Avigation Easement restrictions 
being carried on the title for each of the smaller parcels that were created. 

Funding Source: N/A 

ANALYSIS: Airport Staff have evaluated the request from the property owner to vacate the easement on 
Parcel Nos. 45102.9144 & 45105.9110. The location of these parcels lies outside of any known hazard area 
and they are not required to record an Avigation Easement under the current City of Spokane Valley Airport 
Hazard Overlay Zone. Additionally, they are not within the area that would require study under Federal 
Aviation Regulations, Part 77 which addresses obstructions around airports. 

RECOMMENDATION: Authorize Airport Staff to execute documents vacating the Avigation Easement on 
Parcel Nos. 45102.9144 & 45105.9110. 



b e f o r e  t h e  .  .  .

 SPOKANE AIRPORT BOARD
Item 

Number
4 

Posted to the . . . agenda of August 21, 2025 

ACTION REQUESTED: Award Construction Contract – Air Cargo Facility Stair Replacement – Raven 
Buildings, LLC – Spokane International Airport 

BACKGROUND: The Air Cargo Facility entry stairs and landings are in need of replacement. These metal 
stairs are original to the building and have deteriorated to a point where they cannot be effectively repaired 
or maintained.  This project will include replacement of the stairs, landings, handrails, and concrete pads. 
Temporary access will be provided to each of the units while the work is being completed to minimize the 
impact on operations at the facility.  

Funding Source: 2025 Airport General Funds 

ANALYSIS: Staff prepared bid documents. The project was publicly advertised, and a Mandatory Pre-Bid 
Conference was held on July 16, 2025. Three bids were received and opened on July 24, 2025, ranging from 
a low of $176,705.66 to a high of $304,740.31. The lowest responsive and responsible bid was received 
from Raven Buildings, LLC in the amount of $176,705.66 including Washington State Sales Tax.  

RECOMMENDATION: Award of a Construction Contract for the Air Cargo Facility Stair Replacement to 
Raven Buildings, LLC in the amount of $176,705.66 including Washington State Sales Tax. Staff further 
requests Board authorization of $17,700.00 for construction contingencies, for a total authorization of 
$194,405.66 including Washington State Sales Tax. 



Air Cargo Facility Stair Upgrade 

SIA ITB #25-42-1863 

BID OPENING RESULTS 

July 24, 2025 at 2:30 PM 

Administrative Conference Room 

BID ITEM 

Bidder Bidder Bidder 

Raven Buildings, LLC MJ Takisaki, Inc. Kilgore Construction, Inc. 

TOTAL BID 
(Includes Washington State Sales Tax) 

$176,705.66 $230,201.00 $304,740.31 

Engineer’s Estimate N/A 

Disclaimer: Until the apparent low bidder has been officially awarded a contract by the Board, any part of this form is 
subject to change. 

Posted By: Margaret Merin Date Posted: July 24, 2025 



b e f o r e  t h e  .  .  .

 SPOKANE AIRPORT BOARD
Item 

Number
5 

Posted to the . . . agenda of August 21, 2025 

ACTION REQUESTED: Approve Procurement – Parking Access Equipment – SKIDATA Inc. – Spokane 
International Airport 

BACKGROUND: In 2008, the Airport installed SKIDATA Inc. equipment as our Parking Access Revenue 
Control (PARC) System. As part of this year’s McFarlane Road Extension Project, a temporary Entry/Exit 
Plaza will be constructed along McFarlane Road to provide access to Phase 2 expansion of the Concourse 
C Parking Lot. This temporary access point will require two ECO.Power.Gate exit columns to support 
increased demand during peak travel periods. 

Funding Source: 2025 Airport General Funds 

ANALYSIS: SKIDATA Inc. is the sole-source manufacturer and service provider of the PARC Systems at the 
Airport. SKIDATA Inc. provided a quote of $51,262.00 including Washington State Sales Tax. 

RECOMMENDATION: Approve procurement of Parking Access Equipment from SKIDATA Inc. in the 
amount of $51,262.00 including Washington State Sales Tax. Staff further requests Board authorization of 
$5,100.00 for contingencies, for a total authorization of $56,362.00 including Washington State Sales Tax. 



b e f o r e  t h e  .  .  .

 SPOKANE AIRPORT BOARD
Item 

Number
6 

Posted to the . . . agenda of August 21, 2025 

ACTION REQUESTED: Authorize Construction Change Order No. 1 to Construction Contract – Craig Road 
Sanitary Sewer Project – MDM Construction Group, Inc. – Spokane International Airport 

BACKGROUND: In December of 2024, the Board awarded a construction contract to MDM Construction 
Group, Inc. in the amount of $1,229,798.60 for construction of the Craig Road Sanitary Sewer Project. The 
project is modifying the proposed sewer line locations and quantity consistent with the proposed lot lines 
associated with the Rail-Truck Transload Center Binding Site Plan approved in May of 2025. The proposed 
change adds approximately 2,475 LF of sanitary sewer.  

Funding Source: State of Washington Department of Commerce Grant and S3R3 Solutions 

ANALYSIS: Staff and the consultant team reviewed quantity adjustments for the additional construction 
based on unit prices in the amount of $389,938.95.  

RECOMMENDATION: Authorize Construction Change Order No. 1 for modifications to the proposed 
sanitary sewer system with MDM Construction Group, Inc. for the Craig Road Sanitary Sewer Project in the 
amount of $389,938.95 including Washington State Sales Tax, for a total construction contract in the 
amount of $1,619,737.55 including Washington State Sales Tax. 



b e f o r e  t h e  .  .  .

 SPOKANE AIRPORT BOARD
Item 

Number
7 

Posted to the . . . agenda of August 21, 2025 

ACTION REQUESTED:  Award Construction Contract – Felts Field Terminal Remodel – Café Demolition – 
Dardan Enterprises Inc. – Felts Field 

BACKGROUND This project is for the selective interior demolition of the Café within the Felts Field 
Terminal. Work includes the removal and disposal of damaged interior walls, flooring, electrical, 
mechanical and cabinetry.   

Funding Source: 2025 Airport General Funds with insurance reimbursement 

ANALYSIS: Bid documents were prepared by MWA Architects Inc. The project was advertised utilizing the 
Small Public Works Roster and a Pre-Bid Conference was held on July 23, 2025. One bid was received and 
opened on August 1, 2025. The responsive and responsible bid was submitted by Dardan Enterprises Inc. 
in the amount of $134,193.00 including Washington State Sales Tax. The Engineer’s Estimate was 
$94,798.00. 

RECOMMENDATION: Award of a Construction Contract to Dardan Enterprises Inc. for the Felts Field 
Terminal Remodel – Café Demolition in the amount of $134,193.00 including Washington State Sales Tax. 
Staff further requests Board authorization of $26,800.00 for construction contingencies, for a total 
authorization of $160,993.00. 



Felts Field Terminal Remodel – Café Demolition 

SIA Project #25-30-1850  

FINAL BID OPENING RESULTS 

Small Public Works Roster 

August 1, 2025 at 11:30 a.m. 

Virtual Bid Opening 

BID ITEM 

Bidder 

Dardan Enterprises 

TOTAL BID 
(Includes Washington State Sales Tax) 

$134,193.00 

Engineer’s Estimate $94,798.00 

Disclaimer: Until the apparent low bidder has been officially awarded a contract by the Board, any part of this form is subject to change. 

Posted By:  Jennifer Leui    Date Posted: 08-04-25 



b e f o r e  t h e  .  .  .

 SPOKANE AIRPORT BOARD 
Item 

Number
8 

Posted to the . . . agenda of August 21, 2025 

ACTION REQUESTED: Adopt Resolution No. 07-25 to implement the 2025 Affirmative Action Plans. 

BACKGROUND: The Airport is committed to hiring and developing a highly competent and productive 
workforce.  In support of the objective, the Airport acts to ensure all qualified applicants enjoy equality of 
opportunity and to eliminate discrimination. 

ANALYSIS: The Airport conducted a comprehensive workplace analysis including a review of human 
resource practices. This information was formulated and sent to Associated Industries to be analyzed and 
compared to census statistics.  The data was then compiled into two plan documents.  This included the 
Affirmative Action Plan for Persons with Disabilities and an Affirmative Action Plan for Veterans. The Airport 
met the 7% employment of individuals with disabilities goal in six of the eight job categories. The Airport 
exceeded the National Annual Veteran Hiring Benchmark of 5.2%. 

RECOMMENDATION: Adopt Resolution No. 07-25 to implement the 2025 Affirmative Action Plans. 



BEFORE THE SPOKANE AIRPORT BOARD 
IN THE MATTER OF ADOPTING AND     RESOLUTION 
IMPLEMENTING AFFIRMATIVE ACTION PLANS        NO.  07-25 
 
   

 
WHEREAS, Spokane County, Washington (“County”) and the City of Spokane, 

Washington (“City”), by and through the agency of the SPOKANE AIRPORT BOARD (“Board”), 
jointly operate Spokane International Airport, Felts Field Airport and Spokane International 
Airport Business Park, collectively referred to as SPOKANE AIRPORT, under and pursuant to 
the Constitution and Laws of the State of Washington, including Ch. 14.08 RCW, RCW 14.08.200, 
and that certain Joint Resolution and Operating Agreement of the County and City dated       
October 7, 2019 (the “Interlocal Agreement”); and 

 WHEREAS, pursuant to state law and the Interlocal Agreement, the Board is empowered 
and authorized to exercise all of the powers granted to municipalities pursuant to the provisions of 
RCW 14.08 et seq. in the management, operation, and control of  SPOKANE AIRPORT for 
aviation and business park purposes; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Board wants the most qualified, motivated and productive workforce 

possible and seeks to develop the potential of each employee to achieve our common goals. 
To place artificial barriers against people because of their sex, skin color, ethnic background, 
ancestry, disability or veteran’s status is counterproductive to our success; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the purpose of an Affirmative Action Plan is to ensure that all citizens 

enjoy equality of opportunity in employment and to eliminate employment discrimination due 
to certain protected categories; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Government of the United States of America through Executive Order 

11246 as amended and its implementing regulations (41 CFR 60 – 1, 2 and 3) requires 
employers with whom it works or contracts to support and follow an affirmative action plan 
for minorities and women, persons with disabilities, and veterans; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Board supports such affirmative action plans;  

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board that the following Affirmative 

Action plans be adopted and implemented for SPOKANE AIRPORT and that such plans be 
reviewed and reaffirmed annually. 

 
1. Affirmative Action Plan for Persons with Disabilities 2025. 
2. Affirmative Action Plan for Veterans 2025. 

              
 

 



This resolution, adopted by the BOARD at a regular meeting thereof held on the day of            
August 21, 2025, supersedes all previous resolutions regarding the implementation of Affirmative 
Action Plans. 
 
 
ATTEST:      SPOKANE AIRPORT BOARD 
 
 
 
 
___________________________________  ___________________________________ 
Secretary      Chair 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM:  
 
 
 
___________________________________   
Brian M. Werst 
General Counsel 
 



b e f o r e  t h e  .  .  .  

 SPOKANE AIRPORT BOARD    
 

Item 

Number 9 
Posted to the . . .  agenda of August 21, 2025 

ACTION REQUESTED: Approve the 2025-2026 Employee Benefits for Spokane Airport Employees. 

BACKGROUND: The Airport offers a comprehensive benefit plan to attract and retain employees.  All 
eligible employees and their dependents are included in the Airport’s basic medical, dental and life 
insurance programs. Eligible employees include all full-time regular employees with the exception of the 
Aircraft Rescue and Fire Fighting (ARFF) employees who have separate coverage. Additionally, all 
employees, both part-time and full-time, are covered under the employee assistance program (EAP) and 
employee wellness program. 

ANALYSIS: The renewal date for medical and dental benefits is November 1, 2025. Additional benefits 
including life insurance, disability insurance, and the employee assistance program (EAP) renew on 
January 1, 2026. International business traveler insurance renews May 15, 2026. Plan costs are calculated 
based on current employee count and enrollment. We do anticipate an increased employee count as we 
continue to fill vacancies.  

The Airport’s medical insurance provider is Kaiser Permanente and the dental provider is Delta Dental. 
Behavioral Healthcare Options (BHO) provides the EAP services and has extended a rate pass for 2026. 
Life and Disability insurance is through Mutual of Omaha, and they are offering a rate pass until January 1, 
2027. Administrative fees through our third-party administrator, Peak One, will not increase for 2026. The 
employee benefits program includes voluntary life insurance, international business traveler insurance, 
bus passes, flexible spending accounts (FSA), health reimbursement accounts (HRA), and health savings 
accounts (HSA). We plan to continue the employee wellness program which includes lifestyle spending 
accounts (LSA), Oura rings, and other wellness initiatives. 

The total current anticipated cost of the employee benefits from November 1, 2024 through October 31, 
2025 and before employee cost share is $ $2,436,017.00.  The total cost of benefits for November 1, 2025 
through October 31, 2026 and before employee cost share is estimated to be $ $2,625,346.00, an increase 
of $189,329.00 or 7.77%.   

RECOMMENDATION: Approve the 2025-2026 Employee Benefits with Kaiser Permanente, Delta Dental, 
BHO, Mutual of Omaha, Peak One, GeoBlue, Spokane Transit Authority, Calm, Oura, and in an anticipated 
amount of $2,625,346.00. 

 

 

 

 

 
 



b e f o r e  t h e  .  .  .

 SPOKANE AIRPORT BOARD
Item 

Number
10 

Posted to the . . . agenda of August 21, 2025 

ACTION REQUESTED: Adopt Resolution No. 08-25 Accepting State of Washington Department of 
Commerce Grant Offer and Award for Transload Area Sewer Project – Spokane International Airport 

BACKGROUND: The Airport has been offered two grants by the State of Washington Department of 
Commerce for the Transload Area Sewer Project, also known as the Craig Road Sanitary Sewer Project. 
This project includes approximately 9,520 LF of sanitary sewer. The grants include reimbursement for 
capacity study, preliminary design, construction, and construction management/construction 
administration services in the amount of $1,469,550.00.  

ANALYSIS: These grants will be administered by the State of Washington Department of Commerce under 
Grant No. 24-96647-272 and No. 25-96647-174. 

Funding Source: 2025 and 2026 Airport General Funds with reimbursement from Department of 
Commerce 

RECOMMENDATION: Adopt Resolution No. 08-25 in the matter of approving and authorizing execution of 
the State of Washington Department of Commerce Grant No. 24-96647-272 and No. 25-96647-174 in the 
amount of $970,000.00 and $499,550.00, respectively, for the Transload Area Sewer Project. 



BEFORE THE SPOKANE AIRPORT BOARD  

IN THE MATTER OF APPROVING AND 
AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF 
STATE OF WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT 
OF COMMERCE GRANT AGREEMENT 
NO. 24-96647-272 AND NO. 25-96647-174 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

RESOLUTION 
NO. 08-25 

WHEREAS, Spokane County, Washington (“County”) and the City of Spokane, 
Washington (“City”), by and through the agency of the SPOKANE AIRPORT BOARD 
(“Board”), jointly operate Spokane International Airport, Felts Field Airport and Spokane 
International Airport Business Park, collectively referred to as SPOKANE AIRPORT, under and 
pursuant to the Constitution and Laws of the State of Washington, including Ch. 14.08 RCW, 
RCW 14.08.200, and that certain Joint Resolution and Operating Agreement of Spokane County 
and the City of Spokane dated October 7, 2019 (the “Interlocal Agreement”); and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to state law and the Interlocal Agreement, the Board is empowered 
and authorized to exercise all of the powers granted to municipalities pursuant to the provisions 
of RCW 14.08 et seq. in the management, operation, and control of SPOKANE AIRPORT for 
aviation and business park purposes; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to state law and the Interlocal Agreement, the Board is empowered 
and authorized to approve grants to the SPOKANE AIRPORT, which is delegated authority to 
act on behalf of the City and County, who together are “Sponsors” of SPOKANE AIRPORT, 
and to enter into agreements on behalf of each the City and County regarding grants; and 

WHEREAS, The State of Washington Department of Commerce (“DOC”) has offered 
for the use and benefit of SPOKANE AIRPORT two DOC grants in the amount of $970,000, 
referred to as “DOC Grant No. 24-96647-272”, and in the amount of $499,550, referred to as 
“DOC Grant No. 25-96647-174,” respectively for the “Transload Area Sewer Project” referred to 
as Project No. 23-44-1801 and 23-43-9999-011; and 

WHEREAS, SPOKANE AIRPORT has provided a description of said DOC Grant No. 
24-96647-272, and 25-96647-174, for “Transload Area Sewer Project”, referred to as Project No.
23-44-1801 and 23-43-9999-011, to the Sponsors; and

WHEREAS, a condition precedent for award of DOC Grant No. 24-96647-272 and 25-
96647-174, for the “Transload Area Sewer Project”, referred to as Project No. 23-44-1801 and 
23-43-9999-011, is approval and authorization of the same by the Board on behalf of the
Sponsors; and

WHEREAS, the Board finds it is in the respective best interest of SPOKANE AIRPORT 
and the Sponsors to approve and authorize DOC Grant No. 24-96647-272  and 25-96647-174, 
for the “Transload Area Sewer Project”, referred to as Project No. 23-44-1801 and 23-43-9999-
011, and delegate to the SPOKANE AIRPORT Interim Chief Executive Officer and Chief 



Resolution 08-25 
DOC Grant Offer No. 24-96647-272 and 25-96647-174 

Page 2 of 3 

Executive Officer the authority to execute documents entitled “State of Washington Department 
of Commerce Grant Agreement – Offer for Spokane International Airport – DOC Grant No. 24-
96647-272”, in the amount of $970,000 for the “Transload Area Sewer Project”, referred to as 
Project No. 23-44-1801 and 23-43-9999-011, and “State of Washington Department of 
Commerce Grant Agreement – Offer for Spokane International Airport – DOC Grant No. 25-
96647-174”, in the amount of $499,550 for the “Transload Area Sewer Project”, referred to as 
Project No. 23-44-1801 and 23-43-9999-011; and 

WHEREAS, the Board finds it is in the respective best interest of the Sponsors to 
delegate to the SPOKANE AIRPORT Chief Executive Officer or Interim Chief Executive 
Officerthe further authority to execute all documents and do all things necessary to carry out the 
terms of the documents entitled “State of Washington Department of Commerce Grant 
Agreement – Offer for Spokane International Airport – DOC Grant No. 24-96647-272”, in the 
amount of $970,000, and “State of Washington Department of Commerce Grant Agreement – 
Offer for Spokane International Airport – DOC Grant No 25-96647-174”, in the amount of 
$499,550 for the “Transload Area Sewer Project”, referred to as Project No. 23-44-1801 and 23-
43-9999-011.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board 

1. The Board hereby authorizes and approves DOC Grant No. 24-96647-272  and
25-96647-174, for the “Transload Area Sewer Project”, referred to as Project No. 23-44-1801
and 23-43-9999-011, and delegate to the SPOKANE AIRPORT Interim Chief Executive Officer
the authority to execute that document entitled “State of Washington Department of Commerce
Grant Agreement – Offer for Spokane International Airport – DOC Grant No. 24-96647-272”, in
the amount of $970,000, and “State of Washington Department of Commerce Grant Agreement
– Offer for Spokane International Airport – DOC Grant No. 25-96647-174,” DOC grant offer in
the amount of $499,550 for the “Transload Area Sewer Project”, referred to as Project No. 23-
44-1801 and 23-43-9999-011.

2. The Board hereby delegates to the SPOKANE AIRPORT Chief Executive
Officer, Interim Chief Executive Officer the further authority to execute all documents and do all 
things necessary to carry out the terms of that document entitled “State of Washington 
Department of Commerce Grant Agreement – Offer for Spokane International Airport – DOC 
Grant No. 24-96647-272”, in the amount of $970,000 and “State of Washington Department of 
Commerce Grant Agreement – Offer for Spokane International Airport –DOC Grant No. 25-
96647-174”, in the amount of $499,550 for “Transload Area Sewer Project”. 

ADOPTED by the SPOKANE AIRPORT BOARD at a regular meeting thereof held on the 21st 
day of August 2025. 



Resolution 08-25 
DOC Grant Offer No. 24-96647-272 and 25-96647-174 

Page 3 of 3 

SPOKANE AIRPORT BOARD 

___________________________________ 
Chair 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

___________________________________ 
Brian M. Werst 
General Counsel 



Properties & Contracts 
Summary of CEO Approved Agreements 

August 2025 Board Meeting  

1 

 

SFF Lease Agreement – 
2nd Amendment  

Community 
Colleges of 
Spokane, District 
17 

Effective 7/1/24 
• 5-year option period 7/1/24 – 6/30/29 
• First of four 5-year option periods  
• 23,945 sf Building 1; 3,875 sf Building 2; 106,886 

sf Land 
• $70,461.41 annually, which includes a $25,000 

annual credit for contracted improvements 
 
Annually:  $70,461.41      Monthly: $5,871.78 

SIA Lease Agreement – 
2nd Amendment 

Flagship 
Aviation 
Services, LLC 

Effective 7/1/25 
• 1-year option period 7/1/25 – 6/30/26 
• Second of four 1-year option periods  
• 239 sf of office space – A-103 
• $53.31 psfpa 

 
Annually:  $12,741.09      Monthly: $1,061.76 

SIA Signatory Lease 
Agreement –  
9th Amendment 

United Airlines, 
Inc. 

Effective 1/1/25 
• Term extended: 1/1/25 – 12/31/25 
• Update to 2025 Rates and Charges 
• Update to common use charges 
• Exhibits updated 

 
SFF Felts Field Lease 

Agreement 
The Corporation 
of Gonzaga 
University 

Effective 8/1/25 
• 1-year Agreement 8/1/25 – 7/31/26 
• Bldg 86 – 4,275 sf @ $1.48 psfpa 
• Parcel A & B – 17,361 sf @ $0.27 psfpa 

 
Annually:  $11,014.47      Monthly: $917.87 

SFF Felts Field Lease 
Agreement 

Building 16 
Hangar Owners 
Association 

Effective 5/1/25 
• Annual CPI rate adjustment 
• Land – 31,705 sf @ $0.33 psfpa 
• Update Federal Nondiscrimination language 

 
Annually:  $10,462.65      Monthly: $871.89 

SIA Concession and 
Lease Agreement 

Tamara Pfaffle 
dba Flying 
Shears 

Effective 7/1/25 
• 1-year Agreement 7/1/25 – 6/30/26 
• MAG = $300/month  
• Percentage Fees = 8% gross revenues 

 
Annually:  $3,600+      Monthly: $300.00+ 




